
 
EXECUTIVE SERVICES  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Chief Executive 
Julie Beilby BSc (Hons) MBA 
 

Gibson Building 
Gibson Drive 
Kings Hill, West Malling 
Kent ME19 4LZ 
West Malling (01732) 844522 

 

 
NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process. 

Contact: Committee Services 
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk 

 
1 October 2014 

  

 
To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 (Copies to all Members of the Council) 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 3 Planning Committee to be held 
in the Civic Suite, Gibson Building, Kings Hill, West Malling on Thursday, 9th October, 
2014 commencing at 7.30 pm. Deposited plans will be available for Members' inspection 
for half an hour before the start of the meeting. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
JULIE BEILBY 
 
Chief Executive 

  

 
 

A G E N D A 

 
 
 PART 1 - PUBLIC 

 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest  
 
 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



3. Minutes  
 

5 - 8 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 3 Planning 
Committee held on 28 August 2014  
 

 Decisions to be taken by the Committee 
 

4. Development Control  
 

9 - 12 

 Introduction and Glossary  
 

5. TM/14/01505/RM - Preston Hall, London Road, Aylesford  
 

13 - 22 

6. TM/13/03692/FL - Ferns Surfacing Ltd, Larkfield Depot, 
Bellingham Way, Larkfield  

 

23 - 40 

7. TM/14/02658/FL - Foresters Arms, 74 High Street, Wouldham  
 

41 - 50 

8. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.  
 

 Matters for consideration in Private 
 

 PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

9. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

 

 The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information.  
 

10. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive.  
 



 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
Cllr A K Sullivan (Chairman) 

Cllr R W Dalton (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 Cllr J Atkins 

Cllr J A L Balcombe 
Cllr Mrs J M Bellamy 
Cllr T Bishop 
Cllr Mrs B A Brown 
Cllr D A S Davis 
Cllr Mrs C M Gale 
Cllr P J Homewood 
Cllr D Keeley 
 

Cllr S M King 
Cllr Miss A Moloney 
Cllr Mrs A S Oakley 
Cllr M Parry-Waller 
Cllr Mrs E A Simpson 
Cllr D W Smith 
Cllr R Taylor 
Cllr Mrs C J Woodger 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday, 28th August, 2014 
 

Present: Cllr R W Dalton (Vice-Chairman - in the Chair), Cllr J Atkins, 
Cllr J A L Balcombe, Cllr Mrs J M Bellamy, Cllr T Bishop, 
Cllr Mrs B A Brown, Cllr D A S Davis, Cllr D Keeley, 
Cllr Miss A Moloney, Cllr M Parry-Waller, Cllr R Taylor and 
Cllr Mrs C J Woodger  

  
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A K Sullivan 

(Chairman), Mrs C M Gale, S M King, Mrs A S Oakley, 
Mrs E A Simpson and D W Smith 
 
PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

AP3 14/30 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made in accordance with the 
Code of Conduct. 
 

AP3 14/31 
  

MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 3 Planning 
Committee held on Thursday 24 July 2014 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

           DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED POWERS IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPH 3, PART 3 OF THE 
CONSTITUTION 
 

AP3 14/32 
  

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL AND SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTS  
 
Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting.  
 
Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 
the relevant planning application shown below.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 28 August 2014 
 
 

 
 

AP3 14/33 
  

TM/14/02015/FL - 324 PILGRIMS WAY, WOULDHAM  
 
First floor rear addition at 324 Pilgrims Way, Wouldham 
 
RESOLVED:  That the application be DEFERRED for a Members’ Site 
Inspection.   
 

AP3 14/34 
  

TM/14/02671/CNA - LAND AT FORMER BRIDGE NURSERY, 
LONDON ROAD, ALLINGTON  
 
Consultation by Maidstone Borough Council for the development of the 
site for 143 x one, two, three, four and five bed dwellings, new access 
road off A20, new estate roads, car parking, landscaping and amenity 
open space at Land at former Bridge Nursery, London Road, Allington 
 
RESOLVED:  That Maidstone Borough Council be advised that 
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council Raises No Objection in principle 
subject to  
 
1. The submission of a more rigorous and thorough Transport 

Assessment which assesses the cumulative impact of the 
development upon both the Coldharbour Roundabout at Junction 5 
of the M20 motorway and along the A20 which must include an 
assessment of the impacts arising from recent Committee decisions 
on unallocated sites by Maidstone Borough Council, which generate 
traffic on these parts of the highways network, and that this be 
shared with Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council prior to any 
decision being made to allow Tonbridge and Malling Borough 
Council to make further comment as necessary.   

 

2. In order to minimise the environmental impacts of traffic, to consider 

and promote sustainable transport measures such as: 

• Electric charging points to be accommodated within the 

development; 

• Enhancement of cycle links between the development and the 

surrounding communities, linking fragmented cycle routes along 

the A20 as promoted by the KCC Cycle Strategy; 

• Promotion of the use of public transport and the KCC Car Sharing 

Scheme. 

3. Maidstone Borough Council and Kent County Council being satisfied 
that the proposed access point to the site is the most acceptable and 
appropriate solution in highway safety terms and, if so, that the 
resultant 4-way traffic controlled junction is properly managed and 
linked in terms of sequencing in order to avoid further traffic 
congestion. 

 
 

Page 6



AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 28 August 2014 
 
 

 
 

PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

AP3 14/35 
  

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
There were no items considered in private. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 8.04 pm 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



TONBRIDGE & MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 

AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES 

Report of the Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health 

Part I – Public 

Section A – For Decision 

 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL 

In accordance with the Local Government Access to Information Act 1985 and the Local 

Government Act 1972 (as amended), copies of background papers, including 

representations in respect of applications to be determined at the meeting, are available 

for inspection at Planning Services, Gibson Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill from 08.30 

hrs until 17.00 hrs on the five working days which precede the date of this meeting. 

 

Members are invited to inspect the full text of representations received prior to the 

commencement of the meeting. 

 

Local residents’ consultations and responses are set out in an abbreviated format 

meaning: (number of letters despatched/number raising no objection (X)/raising objection 

(R)/in support (S)). 

 

All applications may be determined by this Committee unless (a) the decision would be in 

fundamental conflict with the plans and strategies which together comprise the 

Development Plan; or (b) in order to comply with Rule 15.24 of the Council and Committee 

Procedure Rules. 

 

 

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations and Application types  

used in reports to Area Planning Committees as at 16 August 2013 

 

AAP Area of Archaeological Potential 

AODN Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn 

AONB Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

APC1 Area 1 Planning Committee  

APC2 Area 2 Planning Committee  

APC3 Area 3 Planning Committee  

ASC Area of Special Character 

BPN Building Preservation Notice 

BRE Building Research Establishment 

CA Conservation Area 

CBCO Chief Building Control Officer 

CEHO Chief Environmental Health Officer 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



CHO Chief Housing Officer 

CPRE Council for the Protection of Rural England 

DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DETR Department of the Environment, Transport & the Regions 

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government 

DCMS Department for Culture, the Media and Sport  

DLADPD Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document  

 (part of the emerging LDF) 

DMPO Development Management Procedure Order 

DPD Development Plan Document (part of emerging LDF) 

DPHEH Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health 

DSSL Director of Street Scene & Leisure 

EA Environment Agency 

EH English Heritage 

EMCG East Malling Conservation Group 

FRA Flood Risk Assessment 

GDPO Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 1995 

GPDO Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 1995 

HA Highways Agency 

HSE Health and Safety Executive 

HMU Highways Management Unit 

KCC Kent County Council 

KCCVPS Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards 

KDD Kent Design (KCC)  (a document dealing with housing/road 

design) 

KWT Kent Wildlife Trust - formerly KTNC 

LB Listed Building (Grade I, II* or II) 

LDF Local Development Framework 

LMIDB Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board 

LPA Local Planning Authority 

LWS Local Wildlife Site 

MAFF Ministry of Agriculture, Fisheries and Food 

MBC Maidstone Borough Council 

MC Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority) 

MCA Mineral Consultation Area 

MDEDPD Managing Development and the Environment Development  

 Plan Document 

MGB Metropolitan Green Belt 

MKWC Mid Kent Water Company 

MLP Minerals Local Plan 

MPG Minerals Planning Guidance Notes 

NE Natural England 

NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

ODPM Office of the Deputy Prime Minister 

Page 10



PC Parish Council 

PD Permitted Development 

POS Public Open Space 

PPG Planning Policy Guidance Note 

PPS Planning Policy Statement (issued by ODPM/DCLG) 

PROW Public Right Of Way 

RH Russet Homes 

RPG Regional Planning Guidance 

SDC Sevenoaks District Council 

SEW South East Water 

SFRA Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (prepared as background to  

 the LDF) 

SNCI Site of Nature Conservation Interest 

SPAB Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings 

SPD Supplementary Planning Document (a statutory policy  

 document supplementary to the LDF) 

SPN Form of Statutory Public Notice 

SSSI Site of Special Scientific Interest 

SWS Southern Water Services 

TC Town Council 

TCAAP Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan 

TCG Tonbridge Conservation Group 

TCS Tonbridge Civic Society 

TMBC Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 

TMBCS Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy (part of the Local  

 Development Framework) 

TMBLP Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan 

TWBC Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

UCO Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 

UMIDB Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

WLP Waste Local Plan (KCC) 

 

AGPN/AGN Prior Notification: Agriculture 

AT Advertisement 

CA Conservation Area Consent (determined by Secretary 

of State if made by KCC or TMBC) 

CAX Conservation Area Consent:  Extension of Time 

CNA Consultation by Neighbouring Authority 

CR3 County Regulation 3 (KCC determined) 

CR4 County Regulation 4 

DEPN Prior Notification: Demolition 

DR3 District Regulation 3 

DR4 District Regulation 4 

EL Electricity 

ELB Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building) 

ELEX Overhead Lines (Exemptions) 

Page 11



FC Felling Licence 

FL Full Application 

FLX Full Application:  Extension of Time   

FLEA Full Application with Environmental Assessment 

FOPN Prior Notification: Forestry 

GOV Consultation on Government Development 

HN Hedgerow Removal Notice 

HSC Hazardous Substances Consent 

LB Listed Building Consent (determined by Secretary of State if 

made by KCC or TMBC) 

LBX Listed Building Consent:  Extension of Time 

LCA Land Compensation Act - Certificate of Appropriate 

Alternative Development 

LDE Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development 

LDP Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development 

LRD Listed Building Consent Reserved Details 

MIN Mineral Planning Application (KCC determined) 

NMA Non Material Amendment 

OA Outline Application 

OAEA Outline Application with Environment Assessment 

OAX Outline Application:  Extension of Time 

ORM Other Related Matter 

RD Reserved Details 

RM Reserved Matters (redefined by Regulation from August 

2006) 

TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms 

TNCA Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas 

TPOC Trees subject to TPO 

TRD Tree Consent Reserved Details 

TWA Transport & Works Act 1992 (determined by Secretary of 

State) 

WAS Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined) 

WG Woodland Grant Scheme Application 

 

 

Page 12



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

 
Aylesford 572821 158052 8 May 2014 TM/14/01505/RM 
Aylesford 
 
Proposal: Reserved Matters application being details of the layout and 

appearance of the development, access to and within the site 
and the scale of the development pursuant to outline 
permission TM/12/02443/OA (Outline Application: Residential 
development of about 208 dwellings (including about 68 
affordable units) together with new roads, play areas and 
informal open space following demolition of existing hospital 
buildings. Conversion of Preston Hall for residential use) 

Location: Preston Hall London Road Aylesford Kent ME20 7NJ   
Applicant: Redrow Homes Limited 
 
 

1. Description: 

1.1 This application seeks the approval of the reserved matters and details for the 

demolition of the ward blocks to the north east of Preston Hall itself and the 

demolition of the two storey sandstone building to the south and the construction 

of 177 dwellings.  This reserved matters submission relates to the majority of the 

land shown for the redevelopment of the Preston Hall hospital site that received 

outline planning approval in March 2013 under application no. TM/12/02443/OA 

when the principle of this scale and nature of development was established. 

1.2 The submitted details indicate a development comprising 53 x 2 bed apartments, 

12 x 2 bed houses, 31 x 3 bed houses, 66 x 4 bed houses and 15 x 5 bed houses.  

The majority of the houses are 2 storeys in height with some 2.5 storeys to the 

north and east and five 3 storey flat blocks to the edge of the site closest to the 

M20. A further block of flats and a number of houses are proposed on an area to 

the south of Preston Hall itself. 

1.3 The application also contains details to discharge conditions attached to the 

outline consent relating to a contoured site plan (condition 5), open space and play 

areas (6), landscaping and boundary treatment (7), acoustic protection (11), 

parking (12), affordable housing provision (13), air quality (14), outdoor noise 

levels (15) and a biodiversity enhancement strategy (16). 

2. Reason for reporting to Committee: 

2.1 At the request of Cllr Balcombe due to the concerns expressed by the Chairman of 

the Residents Association 

3. The Site: 

3.1 The Preston Hall hospital site is adjacent to the Royal British Legion Village and 

located within the settlement boundary of Aylesford.   It is allocated in the LDF and 

DLA DPD. The whole site slopes down from the south and has been the subject of 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

historic terracing and levelling to create the topography that is present today, with 

the single storey ward blocks that are to be demolished set considerably lower 

than Preston Hall itself. 

3.2  A band of woodland separates the site from the M20 to the north east.  It abuts 

various administrative and industrial buildings serving both the Royal British 

Legion and Royal British Legion Industries (RBLI) to the north and the residential 

properties at the Royal British Legion Village (RBLV) to the west.  The A20 runs to 

the south of the site with the existing access drive providing vehicular access.  A 

second access is available through the RBLV from Hall Road.   

4. Planning History: (most relevant) 

   

TM/12/02439/OA Approved 1 March 2013 

Outline Application for residential development (about 36 dwellings on four sites) 
together with new road to Area R1 and improvements to memorial gardens 
   

TM/12/02443/OA Approved 1 March 2013 

Outline Application:  Residential development of about 208 dwellings (including 
about 68 affordable units) together with new roads, play areas and informal open 
space following demolition of existing hospital buildings. Conversion of Preston 
Hall for residential use 
   

TM/12/02444/FL Approved 1 March 2013 

Alterations and construction of new internal roads serving existing residential and 
health uses and proposed residential development. Alterations to existing car 
parking areas serving Heart of Kent Hospice, Gavin Astor House and Churchill 
Centre 
   

TM/14/01227/LB Approved 27 May 2014 

Listed Building Application: Soft strip demolition removing all non-historic building 
elements 
   

TM/14/01507/RD Approved 24 September 2014 

Details of road levels and monitoring regime for East and West link pursuant to 
conditions 3 (contoured site plan) and 7 (road monitoring regime) of planning 
permission TM/12/02444/FL (Alterations and construction of new internal roads 
serving existing residential and health uses and proposed residential 
development. Alterations to existing car parking areas serving Heart of Kent 
Hospice, Gavin Astor House and Churchill Centre) 
   

TM/14/01610/RM Approved 7 August 2014 

Reserved Matters application for the conversion of Preston Hall to provide 36 
dwellings with associated car parking and landscaping together with details 

Page 14



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

pursuant to conditions 1, 3, 4, 5, 7 and 12 of TM/12/02443/OA (Outline 
Application:  Residential development of about 208 dwellings (including about 68 
affordable units) together with new roads, play areas and informal open space 
following demolition of existing hospital buildings. Conversion of Preston Hall for 
residential use) 
   

TM/14/01611/LB Approved 26 August 2014 

Listed Building Application: Conversion of Preston Hall to provide 36 dwellings 

   

TM/14/01917/LB Approved 27 August 2014 

Listed Building Application: Roof details relating to the conversion of Preston Hall 
to 36 dwellings under TM/14/1611/LB 
   

TM/14/02403/LB Approved 27 August 2014 

Listed Building Application: Approval of window details 

   

TM/14/02639/LB Pending consideration  

Listed Building Application for the approval of stone repair works 

           

 
5. Consultees: 

5.1 PC: No objection 

5.2 KCC: No objection 

5.3 Private Reps: 370/0X/3R/0S + site and press notice 

 

3 letters received: one from a resident, one on behalf of the Royal British Legion 

and one on behalf of the residents association raising the following points:- 

• Question parking levels and whether the development will increase pressure 

for parking in other areas of the Village. 

• Concerns regarding proximity of bin store to Dennis Cadman House 

• Potential for rat-running through the site 

• RBLV residents are unanimous in their opposition to the proposals for the 

development of the village as it would effectively double the population and is 

not in accordance with policy H3 of the DLADPD which states that the land 

should be of approximately 180 dwellings. 

Page 15



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

• No thought has been given to the lack of medical or school places in the 

vicinity 

• The site would be subject to noise and air pollution and exacerbate the existing 

AQMAs in the area. 

• Development would result in the east-west link becoming a rat run 

• Traffic generation based on flawed modelling 

• Community want common sense to prevail that the ill-conceived and ill-

considered plans are rejected for something more sensitive and sustainable 

6. Determining Issues: 

6.1 This report deals with approval of the houses on the former Preston Hall Hospital 

site.  It does not address issues of principle which were settled in 2013. The 

submitted details indicate flats and houses to be constructed on parcels of land 

around Preston Hall.  Separate consent has already been issued for the 

conversion of Preston Hall itself to 36 residential units.  As the principle of the 

development has already been agreed, along with the general number of units, 

access and masterplan layout, these matters do not fall to be considered under 

this application.  This submission only deals with the details pursuant to the 

established outline consent which was for a total of some 208 units. 

6.2 The submitted details indicate predominantly 2 storey housing of a traditional 

design.  The housing is split into 5 separate parcels:- 

• 146 units comprising 2 bedroom flats and 2,3,4 and 5 bedroom houses on the 

former ward block area to the north east of Preston Hall 

• 3 detached 3 and 4 bed houses on the former tennis court to the north of 

Preston Hall 

• 6 detached 4 and 5 bed houses to the west of the Heart of Kent Hospice 

• 18 units comprising 2 bedroom flats and 2,3 and 4 bedroom houses in a 

courtyard to the front of Preston Hall and to the west of the access 

• 4 detached 5 bedroom houses to the east of the access. 

6.3 The layout of these units conforms with the approved masterplan in terms of siting 

and numbers.  The design of the units is traditional with external facing materials 

of brick and render with some tile hanging. 

6.4 Parking is provided in accordance with IGN3 with 358 parking spaces for the 

dwellings and a total of 54 visitor spaces to be provided.  The layout also allows 

for additional on-street informal visitor parking if required.  These details are 

Page 16



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

considered to be acceptable and would be pursuant to the requirements of 

condition 12 of the original outline consent. 

6.5 Overall the design and layout of the development is therefore considered to be 

acceptable. 

6.6 The submission also contains details pursuant to a number of conditions attached 

to the original outline consent.  The submission includes a contoured site plan 

pursuant to condition 5.  Details are provided of the positioning of a central LEAP 

play area and two LAP play areas (one to the west and one to the north adjacent 

to the woodland) pursuant to condition 6.  A full landscaping and boundary 

treatment scheme has been provided pursuant to condition 7.  This shows details 

of both hard and soft landscaping which is considered appropriate for the overall 

setting of the development. 

6.7 With regard to acoustic protection, conditions 11 and 15, a series of 3m high 

acoustic barriers to the north western site boundary with the industrial premises 

and between the flat blocks to the north eastern edge of the site ensure that all 

rear gardens would have a noise level below 60 dB LAeq,16h.  This is considered 

to be an appropriate upper limit in this area and is therefore considered acceptable 

pursuant to condition 15.  Where appropriate, mechanical ventilation is to be 

provided for properties to ensure that internal noise levels would be in accordance 

with current WHO guidance and BS 8233.  The details pursuant to condition 11 

are therefore considered appropriate. 

6.8 With regard to air quality, condition 14, no dwelling would be exposed to NO2 

levels above 36ug/m3 and so would not be subject to adverse air quality.  

6.9 The scheme of affordable housing submitted indicates a suitable level of provision 

with 70 units being made available.  The scheme is acceptable in principle and the 

specific details are being finalised with regard to the precise unit types and tenure. 

6.10 An appropriate biodiversity enhancement strategy pursuant to condition 16 has 

been developed.  This will provide wildflower grassland and margins, new 

hedgerows and management of the woodland areas.  Appropriate measures are in 

place with regard to bats, birds and invertebrates. 

6.11 The comments of the residents and the chair of the residents association are 

noted.  However they do not relate to the submitted details but seek to re-open the 

matter of the principle of development in this area by reiterating previous 

concerns.  These comments cannot now be considered as the principle was 

established and agreed under permission TM/12/02443/OA. 

6.12 Overall the details are considered acceptable to approve the reserved matters and 

details. 

 

 

Page 17



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

7. Recommendation: 

7.1 Approve reserved matters and details pursuant to conditions 5, 6, 7, 11, 12, 13, 

14, 15 and 16 in accordance with the following:- 

Letter    dated 17.04.2014, Letter    dated 17.04.2014, Letter    dated 17.04.2014, 

Letter    dated 17.04.2014, Other  ACCOMODATION SCHE  dated 17.04.2014, 

Statement  AFFORDABLE HOUSING  dated 17.04.2014, Supporting Statement    

dated 17.04.2014, Design and Access Statement    dated 17.04.2014, Landscape 

Statement    dated 17.04.2014, Other  TECHNICAL NOTE A  dated 17.04.2014, 

Other  TECHNICAL NOTE B  dated 17.04.2014, Air Quality Assessment    dated 

17.04.2014, Arboricultural Survey    dated 17.04.2014, Drainage Statement    

dated 17.04.2014, Ecological Assessment    dated 17.04.2014, Noise Assessment    

dated 17.04.2014, Tree Plan  14039-P-10-01  dated 17.04.2014, Tree Plan  

14039-P-10-02  dated 17.04.2014, Tree Removal Plan  14039-P-11-01  dated 

17.04.2014, Tree Removal Plan  14039-P-11-02  dated 17.04.2014, Tree 

Protection Plan  14039-P-12-01  dated 17.04.2014, Tree Protection Plan  14039-

P-12-02  dated 17.04.2014, Drawing  1603 05  dated 17.04.2014, Drawing  1603 

06  dated 17.04.2014, Landscaping  1603 10 B  dated 17.04.2014, Planting Plan  

1603 12  dated 17.04.2014, Planting Plan  1603 13  dated 17.04.2014, Planting 

Plan  1603 14  dated 17.04.2014, Planting Plan  1603 15  dated 17.04.2014, 

Drawing  1603 16  dated 17.04.2014, Drawing  1603 17  dated 17.04.2014, 

Topographical Survey  1603-1  dated 17.04.2014, Topographical Survey  1603-2  

dated 17.04.2014, Planning Layout  AHL01  dated 17.04.2014, Proposed 

Elevations  BCS01.PE  dated 17.04.2014, Proposed Elevations  BCS02.PE  dated 

17.04.2014, Proposed Elevations  BCS03.PE  dated 17.04.2014, Drawing  BML01  

dated 17.04.2014, Drawing  DML01  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-B.E1  

dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-B.E2  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-B.P1  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-B.P2  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-B.P3  

dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-CE1  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-CE2  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-CP1  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-CP2  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-CP3  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-DE  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-DP1  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-DP2  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-DP3  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-EE1  

dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-EE2  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-EP1  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-EP2  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-FE1  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-FP1  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-FP2  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-FP3  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plans And 

Elevations  GAR.01PE  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plans And Elevations  GAR.02PE  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plans And Elevations  GAR.03PE  dated 17.04.2014, 

Floor Plan  HT.BLE.P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.BLEE  dated 17.04.2014, 

Elevations  HT.CAM-A.E  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.CAM-E  dated 

17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.CAM-P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.HEN.E  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.HEN.P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  

HT.KEN(4BLOCK).E  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.KEN(4BLOCK).P1  dated 

17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.KEN(4BLOCK).P2  dated 17.04.2014, Drawing  

HT.KEN-A(4BLOCK).E  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.LET-A.E  dated 

Page 18



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.LET.E  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.LET.P  dated 

17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.MARL.E  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.MARL.P  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.OXF.P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.OXF-

A.E  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.OXF.E  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  

HT.SAN.E1  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.SAN.E2  dated 17.04.2014, Floor 

Plan  HT.SAN.P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.SHA-A.E  dated 17.04.2014, 

Elevations  HT.SHA-E  dated 17.04.2014, Flood Risk Assessment  HT.SHA-P  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.STR-A.PE  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plans And 

Elevations  HT.STR-.PE  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  HT.WOR.E  dated 

17.04.2014, Floor Plan  HT.WOR.P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  P.137-139E  

dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  P.137-139P  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  P.34-

35_36-37.E  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  P.34-35_36-37.P  dated 17.04.2014, 

Elevations  P.38.39E  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  P.38.39P  dated 17.04.2014, 

Elevations  P.82-85.E1  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  P.82-85.E2  dated 

17.04.2014, Floor Plan  P.82-85.P  dated 17.04.2014, Street Scenes  SE.01  

dated 17.04.2014, Street Scenes  SE.02  dated 17.04.2014, Street Scenes  SE.03  

dated 17.04.2014, Street Scenes  SE.04  dated 17.04.2014, Street Scenes  SE.05  

dated 17.04.2014, Sections  SS.01  dated 17.04.2014, Street Scenes  SE.06  

dated 15.05.2014, Location Plan  LP.01 A  dated 17.04.2014, Elevations  FB-AE1 

REV A  dated 15.08.2014, Elevations  FB-AE2 REV A  dated 15.08.2014, 

Elevations  FB-AE3  dated 17.04.2014, Floor Plan  FB-AP REV A  dated 

15.08.2014, Floor Plan  FB-AP1 REV A  dated 15.08.2014, Floor Plan  FB-AP2 

REV A  dated 15.08.2014, Site Layout  SL.01 REV B  dated 15.08.2014 

 
Contact: Robin Gilbert 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 
   

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 

TM/14/01505/RM 
 
Preston Hall London Road Aylesford Kent ME20 7NJ  
 
Reserved Matters application being details of the layout and appearance of the 
development, access to and within the site and the scale of the development pursuant 
to outline permission TM/12/02443/OA (Outline Application: Residential development of 
about 208 dwellings (including about 68 affordable units) together with new roads, play 
areas and informal open space following demolition of existing hospital buildings. 
Conversion of Preston Hall for residential use) 
 
For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2012. 
 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

 
Ditton 570674 159323 20 May 2014 TM/13/03692/FL 
Ditton 
 
Proposal:  Erection 32no. dwellings (35% affordable), access road, car 

parking and landscaping at Bellingham Way, Aylesford, Kent 
(includes demolition of existing structures) 

Location: Ferns Surfacing Ltd, Larkfield Depot Bellingham Way Larkfield 
Aylesford Kent   

Applicant: Ferns Surfacing Ltd 
 
 

1. Description: 

1.1 Full planning permission is sought for the erection of 32 dwellings including 5 x 1 

bedroom flats, 24 x 2 bedroom flats, 3 x 3 bedroom houses and 50 car parking 

spaces. The development is proposed to be laid out in a number of blocks, ranging 

from three to four storey blocks on the frontage with Bellingham Way, to two storey 

dwellings to the rear. The two central blocks of units are shown as affordable 

housing units to be made available at social rent levels. Car parking would largely 

be provided in car parking courts which are proposed to sit in relatively close 

proximity to the buildings. The site would be accessed from a new access road 

which would run through the centre of the site and join to Bellingham Way.  

2. Reason for reporting to Committee: 

2.1 The application is being reported to the Planning Committee as it is a departure 

from the development plan. 

3. The Site: 

3.1 The application site is an existing commercial site with a lawful use as a lorry 

park/transport yard and is currently in use for lorry vehicle sales and situated 

within the New Hythe Business Park. The site area measures approximately 0.5 

hectares and is largely laid to hardstanding, there is an office building on the site 

which is proposed to remain as part of the development. 

3.2 The site fronts onto Bellingham Way which is situated to the east of the site and 

raised slightly above road level. To the west of the site are the rear gardens of 

residential dwellings which front onto New Hythe Lane. These properties are 

situated at an elevated ground level from the application site, sitting atop a steep 

vegetated bank. To the north of the site are residential dwellings and a car parking 

area at Mercer Close. These neighbouring properties are separated from the site 

by metal palisade fencing. To the south of the site is the remainder of Ferns 

Surfacing yard which is proposed to remain in a commercial use. 

3.3 The application site is situated on the border between the industrial/commercial 

land to the south and residential development to the north and west. This creates 

a generally mixed character to the local area. The residential dwellings to the north 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

east and north are of a relatively modern age and are situated on land which 

previously formed commercial sites. 

3.4 The local area is of no special landscape designations. 

4. Planning History: 

None directly relevant to this case. 

5. Consultees: 

5.1 East Malling and Larkfield PC: 

• Accept in principle this particular site is acceptable for residential 

development 

• Other sites should be considered as part of the local plan review process 

with regard to the availability of employment land 

• Request conditions be imposed relating to landscaping, archaeology, 

affordable housing, parking, construction hours, contamination and dropped 

kerbs for pedestrians. 

• Request the Parish Council are consulted on the new road name 

• Seek sufficient visitor car parking provision 

 Ditton PC: 

• Originally raised no objections to the application but following re-

consultation after the number of car parking spaces were reduced, sought 

the number of car parking spaces be increased to 60. 

5.2 KCC Highways and Transportation: Raises no objection subject to conditions.  

5.3 KCC Heritage: State that the site lies in an area which has some potential for 

prehistoric remains. About 300m to the south some Palaeolithic flints were located 

in the New Hythe Pits. Similar remains may survive on the application site. On the 

basis of the 4th ed OS Map and 1940’s aerial photographs part of the site appears 

to have been subject to historic quarrying. But any area which has not been 

quarried has potential for archaeology and it is therefore recommended that a 

condition is imposed on any planning permission requiring an archaeological 

watching brief.   

5.4 Kent Police: Request that the applicant’s attention is drawn to the Kent Design 

Initiative Design Out Crime Prevention document to assist them in designing out 

crime. 

Page 24



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

5.5 KCC Economic Development: Have requested commuted payments for the 

amount of £31,654.96 towards the provision of primary education, community 

learning, youth services, libraries and adult social care. 

5.6 Private Reps: 41/0S/1X/0R + site and press advert 

 

1 letter of objection received raising concern that trees on the site had been 

removed before development had commenced and that these trees offered 

environmental protection from factory noise and lights which now shine into the 

bedroom window. 

6. Determining Issues: 

6.1 The NPPF, along with policy CP1 of the TMBCS (2007) and policy CC1 of the 

MDE DPD (2010), places sustainability at the heart of decision making, ensuring 

that new development does not cause irrevocable harm to the environment and 

balancing this against the need to support a strong, competitive economy and 

protect the social welfare of existing and future residents.  

6.2 The core planning principles contained within paragraph 17 of the NPPF outline 

the key objectives that the government consider should be fulfilled by the planning 

system. These include the encouragement of the effective use of land by reusing 

land that has been previously developed (brownfield land); and actively managing 

patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and 

cycling. 

6.3 Paragraph 22 of the NPPF states that planning policies should avoid the long term 

protection of sites allocated for employment use where there is no reasonable 

prospect of a site being used for that purpose. Where there is no reasonable 

prospect of a site being used for the allocated employment use, applications for 

alternative uses of land or buildings should be treated on their own merits having 

regard to the relative need for different land uses to support sustainable local 

communities.  

6.4 Policy CP11 of the TMBCS requires that new development is concentrated within 

the urban areas of the Medway Gap (which includes Larkfield). CP15 states that 

housing will be permitted which accord with the principles of sustainability and 

which maintain and respect the settlement hierarchy.  

6.5 The application site is located on land which is safeguarded for employment uses 

by policy E1 of the DLADPD. This policy states that proposals for non-employment 

uses (i.e. uses other than B1/B2/B8) would not be permitted. 

6.6 The existing site has permission to be used as a lorry park/transport yard and is 

currently being used for lorry sales. The lawful employment use has been present 

at the site since at least the 1970’s when planning permission was granted for 

portable office buildings. The applicant has not provided any supporting evidence 

Page 25



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

to demonstrate that the site is no longer viable for employment purposes; indeed, 

the site is currently in use for lorry sales (although this does not appear to be a 

lawful use). However, the owner of the land has moved a proportion of their 

business to London which has meant that they no longer require the whole site for 

the transport yard purposes. It is also stated that they do not intend to invest 

further in the employment site due to the potential noise and disturbance which 

may be caused to residential neighbours.  

6.7 Since the commencement of the commercial use of the site the character of the 

local area has significantly changed, with many of the former employment sites 

such as the Kent Messenger and Leybourne Park now having been developed for 

residential purposes. It is also important to note that the Council’s policy 

documents contained within the LDF were formulated prior to the publication of the 

NPPF. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. Proposed development that accords with an up 

to date Local Plan should be approved and conversely proposed development that 

conflicts should be refused unless other material considerations indicate 

otherwise. The NPPF is a material consideration in determining applications as it 

constitutes guidance issued by the Secretary of State for decision takers. Weight 

must be placed upon the guidance contained within the NPPF in the consideration 

of the application for the re-development of the land. 

6.8 Although the applicant has not sought to demonstrate that the application site is no 

longer commercially viable, there would be other benefits to the redevelopment of 

the site for residential purposes. The site has an unfettered commercial use as a 

transport yard. If used to its full potential this could cause significant noise and 

disturbance to residential neighbours directly adjacent to the site. The 

redevelopment of the site would provide some environmental benefits to the local 

area as a result.  

6.9 It is also advised that any profits from the sale or development of the land would 

be re-invested in the neighbouring site which would provide some economic 

benefit to the local area. No details of this re-investment have been provided and 

the Council has no mechanism to ensure that the neighbouring site is enhanced 

by profits from the land sale or redevelopment. So, only limited weight can be 

attributed to this in the consideration of the application. 

6.10 Finally, the residential development would include the provision of social rented 

affordable units of accommodation. This would represent at least 20% of the total 

residential accommodation on the site. This particular tenure of affordable 

accommodation is in short supply locally and the Council has a significant under 

provision of such accommodation. In light of this, the proposed development offers 

wider benefits to the local community and this has been afforded considerable 

weight in the consideration of the principle of the development. 

Page 26



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

6.11 The site is located in a sustainable location in that it has both footpath and public 

transport links to local amenities as well as the wider urban area. It is surrounded 

by other residential development which means that a more intensive employment 

use may now cause significant noise and disturbance to residential neighbours. 

The site is brownfield and would allow for the provision of affordable homes which 

would seek to meet the needs of customers on the housing waiting list. These 

factors all weigh in favour of the development and represent material 

considerations in the determination of the application.  

6.12 In light of the above, on balance although the development would represent a 

departure from the development plan in that it would result in the loss of 

employment land, the NPPF is supportive of the principle of the re-use of 

brownfield land. The material considerations outlined above weigh in favour of the 

development and offer considerable benefits to the local community and as such it 

is considered that the development is acceptable in principle. 

6.13 The NPPF emphasises the need for good design in new development and 

identifies this as a key aspect of sustainable development, positively contributing 

to making places better for people. Paragraph 57 highlights the importance of a 

development establishing and maintaining a strong sense of place, creating 

attractive and comfortable places to live, which respond to local character and are 

visually attractive. 

6.14 This is reflected in policies CP24 of the TMBCS and SQ1 of the MDEDPD which 

seek to ensure that all development is of a high quality design, and to protect, 

conserve and where possible enhance the character and distinctiveness of the 

local area. This includes the distinctive setting of and relationship between the 

pattern of the settlement, roads and the landscape, urban form and important 

views. 

6.15 During the course of the application negotiations have taken place with regard to 

design in order to provide an appropriate balance between the need to ensure the 

development is viable whilst at the same time ensuring that the site sits 

comfortably in its surroundings. The site has been designed with buildings at the 

entrance turning around the corner between Bellingham Way and the new site 

entrance. The scale of the buildings reduces from the front (road edge) of the site 

to the back and all have been designed to have a road frontage directly onto the 

access road.  

6.16 The buildings themselves have Juliet balconies in order to provide a suitable 

window to wall ratio, breaking the massing of the buildings and providing 

articulation to the frontages. Ground floor apartments have also been designed 

with patio doors in order to provide independent access without the need to use 

the communal entrance if desired. This, combined with the variations to the 

building frontages, allows the buildings to visually reach out to the street and 

prevent the creation of a bland road frontage. 

Page 27



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

6.17 The variation in design of the blocks would create visual interest and the overall 

site layout draws the eye along the access road into the site. The end point of the 

road is proposed to be landscaped and part of the access road has been designed 

with street trees. These factors soften the building line and positively contribute to 

the verdant appearance of the development. The street trees would allow for 

vehicles to park on the highway but would provide designated spaces for doing so, 

which would improve the appearance of the street scene. 

6.18 The character of the local area is mixed, with three to four storey apartment blocks 

to the north east of the site, apartments of a similar scale to the north and large 

commercial buildings to the south. The development would not detract from the 

overall character of the locality as it would reflect the scale of other residential 

development in Bellingham Way and would not be overwhelmed by the large scale 

commercial buildings to the south. The specific design of the development would 

allow the development to sit comfortably within its setting and no harm would be 

caused to the visual amenity of the locality.  

6.19 The NPPF sets out the need to seek to secure high quality design and a good 

standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings as 

one of the core planning principles in paragraph 17. This amenity is affected by the 

quality and standards of both internal and external accommodation.  

6.20 The proposed residential units would have good sized floor areas with the one 

bedroom units having floor areas of approximately 50m² on average and the two 

bedroom units with an average floor area of 65m². This would provide adequate 

internal accommodation for future residents without causing harm to their 

residential amenity. None of the dwellings are single aspect, the majority being 

triple aspect which would allow natural ventilation and heating throughout the day. 

All of the blocks of apartments and the dwelling houses have access to external 

amenity space, the majority of which is communal. The space is adequately sized 

in order to provide space for residents to sit outside and for children to play. This 

would positively contribute to the residential amenity of future occupants. 

6.21 The application site is located in a commercial area and is affected by noise, 

mainly from road noise on Bellingham Way. Policy SQ6 of the MDE DPD (adopted 

2010) needs to be applied in the context of both the NPPF and NPPG which are 

now “material considerations” for this purpose. This is a clear steer away from 

using measures such as the NECs in SQ8 as a means of calculating noise impact. 

6.22 Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that the planning system should contribute to 

and enhance the natural and local environment by preventing new development 

from being put at unacceptable risk from or being adversely affected by 

unacceptable levels of noise pollution. Paragraph 123 continues that planning 

decisions should aim to avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts 

on health and quality of life as a result of new development. 

Page 28



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

6.23 The Noise Policy Statement for England (2010), which is cited in NPPF, sets out a 

series of aims which include the avoidance of significant adverse impacts on 

health and quality of life. The explanatory note to the policy seeks to explain what 

is meant by significantly adverse and adverse impacts by reference to two 

concepts established by the World Health Organisation: “No Observed Effect 

Level” (NOEL) and “Lowest Observed Effect Level” (LOAEL) (the level above 

which adverse effects can be detected), and extends that concept to include a 

“Significant Observed Adverse Effect Level” (SOAEL). SOAEL is described as the 

level above which significant adverse effects on health and quality of life occur. 

These considerations do not set specific noise levels unlike earlier standards.   

6.24 The NPPF states that in decision making account should be taken of the acoustic 

environment and in doing so to consider whether or not a significant adverse effect 

is occurring or likely to occur; whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely 

to occur; and whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved. As part 

of this exercise it would include identifying whether the overall effect of the noise 

exposure is or would be above or below the SOAEL and LOAEL levels. 

6.25 At the front of the site the measurements taken demonstrate that the LAmax 

measured never drops below 75dB throughout the night time periods and is more 

often than not in excess of 80dB.  

6.26 The report does include a range of attenuation measures to achieve a satisfactory 

internal climate and these do appear to achieve the desired levels of 

BS8233:2014. This includes the provision of acoustically screened mechanical 

ventilation. These ventilation systems would be required where the internal noise 

levels will exceed 40 LAeq dB in bedrooms or 48 LAeq dB in living rooms with 

windows open and to bedrooms having openings into facades that will be exposed 

to a level of road traffic noise in excess of 78dB LAmax (slow time weighting). This 

can be controlled by way of planning condition on any approval. 

6.27  The application site sits opposite a commercial site entrance where HGV vehicle 

movements occur on a regular basis – not unlike the adjoining dwellings recently 

developed. The dwellings on the forward-most part of the site could therefore be 

subjected to sweeping of the vehicle headlights from the units opposite. The 

dwellings on the front of the site would be situated approximately 1 metre above 

road level due to the levels change across the site. The cill height of the windows 

would subsequently be a further 1.1 metres above ground level. The dwellings 

have living room/kitchen windows facing onto the road rather than bedrooms and 

therefore disturbance would be further limited. In light of the height above road 

level and the nature of the rooms facing onto the road, no detriment would be 

caused to the residential amenity of future occupants through headlight sweep. 

6.28 There are residential neighbours in close proximity to the site, to the north are 

dwellings fronting onto Mercer Close, and to the west are dwellings which front 

New Hythe Lane. The dwellings to the west are situated at a higher ground level 

Page 29



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

and approximately 33 metres from the boundary of the application site. These 

factors would prevent an adverse impact from occurring due to overlooking or by 

the development being overbearing to them. 

6.29 Dwellings to the north are situated in closer proximity to the site; however they are 

not directly in line with any of the windows in the residential blocks proposed. 

There is the potential for some overlooking to occur from the first and second floor 

bedroom and bathroom windows of the block containing units 19-24. It is therefore 

considered reasonable and necessary to require these windows to be obscure 

glazed and non-opening to 1.7 metres above internal floor level.  However, the 

bedrooms all have secondary windows facing to the west providing the occupants 

with an outlook mitigating the impact of the obscure glazing. The blocks 

themselves are relatively high, however the position of the block containing units 

19-24 in relation to 39 Mercer Close would prevent it from being unacceptably 

overbearing. No detriment would therefore be caused to the residential amenity of 

the closest residential neighbours as a result of the proposed development.  

6.30 In considering new development the NPPF advises that decisions should take 

account of whether the site provides a safe and suitable access for all people and 

that development should only be refused on transport grounds where the residual 

cumulative impacts of development are severe. Policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD 

states that development will only be permitted where it would not significantly harm 

highway safety and where there would be sufficient off road car parking provision 

in line with the Council’s adopted parking standards. 

6.31 The development proposes the provision of 50 car parking spaces to serve 32 

residential units which comprises 3 visitor car parking spaces and 47 car parking 

spaces to serve the dwellings. The majority of the parking would be provided in 

parking courts which would be overlooked by the neighbouring residential 

buildings. This would provide passive overlooking which would improve safety for 

occupants and users of the car park. The level of car parking would exceed those 

required by IGN3 which seeks a provision of 1 space per 1 or 2 bedroom 

apartment and two spaces per three bedroom dwellinghouse (a total of 35 

spaces). The proposed access road would also provide opportunity for some car 

parking in bays distinguished by the street trees. This would allow for sufficient off 

road car parking to serve the development. 

6.32 KCC Highways has raised concern that details have not been provided with regard 

to parking for the retained office. This office would be accessed through the site to 

the south which remains in the ownership of the applicants. This site is an open 

yard with space for parking vehicles and would have sufficient space to serve the 

office use.  

6.33 The residential development would result in vehicular movements to and from the 

site. The submitted transport assessment uses TRICS data to estimate the 

number of traffic movements generated by the development and states that the 

Page 30



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

number of two way movements in the AM peak would be 9, with 14 during the PM 

peak and a total of 125 two way movements throughout the day. However, the site 

has a lawful B1/B2 use which would generate significant traffic movements of both 

cars and HGV’s. The submitted report states this level to be 39 vehicular 

movements in the AM peak, 28 in the PM peak and a total of 246 overall. There 

would therefore not be any significant highway safety implications as a result of 

the proposed development.  

6.34 The proposal would require the provision of a new access onto Bellingham Way. 

At present there is a pedestrian refuge situated almost directly in front of the 

proposed site access which would be required to be moved in order to provide 

safe entry and exit. In addition, KCC Highways has raised the issue that the white 

lining on the road to the front is currently confusing and would need to be altered. 

These matters could be secured by S.278 agreement with KCC Highways and 

could be controlled by way of Grampian condition on any planning approval. A 

condition would also be required to ensure that the gradient of the access was not 

so steep so as to cause highway safety issues. 

6.35  Policy CP17 requires the provision affordable housing on all sites of 15 dwellings 

or above at a level of 40% of the number of dwellings in any scheme. This housing 

should be provided by way of 70% of the affordable dwellings being socially rented 

housing and the remainder being intermediate housing. That policy position was 

established, in 2007, following earlier housing need study work. The development 

proposes a total of 20% affordable housing (6 of the 32 units) and would be for 

social rent. This specific tenure is in limited supply in new development in the 

borough due to the under provision in the current market. The level of provision of 

affordable housing would be acceptable at 20% in order to ensure that all of the 

units would be for social rent. This would be a preferred tenure of social housing 

and therefore on balance it is considered that the lesser provision overall would be 

overcome by the preferential tenure which would meet the needs of those on the 

housing register. The precise means of ensuring control over this provision is 

currently anticipated by planning condition – however further consideration is 

being given as to whether this control may be better achieved by a S106 planning 

obligation given the market circumstances and the particular nature of the 

unallocated site. 

6.36 Commuted sums have been sought from interested parties including Kent County 

Council Economic Development who seek a contribution of £31,654.96 towards 

primary education, libraries, social care and youth services and £84,284 towards 

the provision of open space. The applicants have provided a viability assessment 

to address the commuted sums which have been requested. This assessment has 

been reviewed on behalf of the Council and it is considered that the viability report 

is robust. The desirability of providing social rent affordable housing on the site at 

the level proposed means that it would not be reasonable for the Council to also 

require the payment of commuted sums in this instance as it is the Council’s 

priority to secure properly affordable housing provision – and investigations are in 

Page 31



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

hand to establish if this contribution sum could be more effectively used to bring 

forward further affordable units.  

6.37 The application is supported by a desk based archaeological analysis of the site 

which identifies a low to moderate archaeological potential for early prehistoric 

periods and the late Iron Age to Roman Period. This is due to its physical position 

in relation to other archaeological finds in the locality. The report recommends no 

further mitigation measures are required in this instance. KCC Heritage has 

requested a condition to require archaeology to be monitored on the site by a 

qualified person, this would appear to be reasonable in light of the low-to-

moderate likelihood of archaeological remains being present. 

6.38 The site is currently in a commercial use and there is therefore some likelihood of 

contamination being present on the site. The applicant has not provided a 

contamination report with the application submission; however a condition 

requiring contamination surveys to be carried out and necessary remedial works 

completed before and during development would be sufficient to prevent an 

adverse impact being caused through contamination, given the particular form of 

the development.  

7. Recommendation: 

7.1 Approve in accordance with the following submitted details:  

Location Plan  9574/01  dated 28.11.2013, Site Plan  DHA/9574/03 D dated 

28.08.2014, Existing Site Plan  DHA/9574/02  dated 28.08.2014, Proposed Plans 

and Elevations  DHA/9574/07 C dated 28.08.2014, Proposed Plans and 

Elevations  DHA/9574/08 C dated 28.08.2014, Proposed Plans and Elevations  

DHA/9574/09 B dated 28.08.2014, Proposed Plans and Elevations  DHA/9574/10 

A dated 28.08.2014, Proposed Plans and Elevations  DHA/9574/11 C dated 

28.08.2014, Proposed Plans and Elevations  DHA/9574/12 C dated 28.08.2014, 

Supporting Information  9574-H-01 P1 dated 28.08.2014, Supporting Information  

9574-H-02 P1 dated 28.08.2014, Supporting Information  9574-H-03 P1 dated 

28.08.2014, Supporting Information  9574-H-04 P1 dated 28.08.2014, Supporting 

Information  9574-H-05 P1 dated 28.08.2014, Road Safety Audit    dated 

28.08.2014,  

 
Conditions / Reasons 
 
 1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. No development shall take place until written details and photographs of all 

materials to be used externally in the construction of the dwelling have been 

Page 32



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and samples of the 
materials shall be made available at the site for inspection by Officers of the 
Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details.     

   
 Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm the character of the 

existing building in accordance with Policies CP1 and CP24 of the Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough Core Strategy, Policy SQ1 of the Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Managing Development and the Environment Development Plan 
Document and paragraphs 57, 58 and 61 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012). 

 
 3. The use shall not be commenced, nor the premises occupied, until the area 

shown on the submitted layout as vehicle and cycle parking space and turning 
has been provided, surfaced and drained.  Thereafter it shall be kept available for 
such use and no permanent development, whether or not permitted by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any 
order amending, revoking and re-enacting that Order) shall be carried out on the 
land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to this 
reserved parking space.   

  
 Reason:  To ensure no adverse impact upon highway safety resulting from 

potentially hazardous on-street parking, in accordance with Section 2 of Policy 
SQ8 of the Managing Development and the Environment Development Plan 
Document 2010.   

 
 4. No development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved 

by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of landscaping and boundary 
treatment.  All planting, seeding and turfing comprised in the approved scheme of 
landscaping shall be implemented during the first planting season following 
occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever is 
the earlier.  Any trees or shrubs removed, dying, being seriously damaged or 
diseased within 10 years of planting shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with trees or shrubs of similar size and species, unless the Authority gives written 
consent to any variation.  Any boundary fences or walls or similar structures as 
may be approved shall be erected before first occupation of the building to which 
they relate.    

  
 Reason: To ensure that the development does not harm the character of the 

existing building in accordance with Policies CP1 and CP24 of the Tonbridge and 
Malling Borough Core Strategy, Policy SQ1 of the Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Managing Development and the Environment Development Plan 
Document and paragraphs 57, 58 and 61 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012). 

 
 5. The bedroom and bathroom windows on the north elevation of the units on the 

first and second floor to the western side of the block containing units 19-24 shall 
be fitted with obscured glass and, apart from any top-hung light shall be non-
opening.  This work shall be effected before the unit to which the window(s) 
relate is occupied and shall be retained thereafter in perpetuity. 

Page 33



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

  
 Reason:  To minimise the effect of overlooking onto adjoining property, in 

accordance with Saved Policy P4/12 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough Local 
Plan 1998 and paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 6. Prior to the first occupation of the units hereby approved details of a scheme of 

acoustic protection of habitable rooms shall be submitted and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme of acoustic protection shall be 
sufficient to secure internal noise levels no greater than 40 LAeq dB in bedrooms 
or 48 LAeq dB in living rooms with windows open, and shall include acoustically 
screened mechanical ventilation to bedrooms having openings into facades that 
will be exposed to a level of road traffic noise in excess of 78dB LAmax (slow 
time weighting). The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first 
occupation of the dwelling to which it relates and shall be retained at all times 
thereafter. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of future occupants. 
 
 7. The access details shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to the 

use of the site being commenced at a gradient of no steeper than 1 in 10 for the 
first 1.5 metres from the highway boundary and no steeper than 1 in 8 thereafter 
and shall be maintained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason:  In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 8. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved vehicle visibility 

splays shown on the submitted plan numbers 9574-H-02 rev P1, 9574-H-03 rev 
P1 and drawing number 9574-H-04 rev P1 received on 28.08.14 with no 
obstructions over 0.6 metres above carriageway level and 2m x 2m pedestrian 
visibility splays behind the edge of the shared surface on both sides of the 
access with no obstructions over 0.6 metres above footway level shall be 
provided and shall be maintained in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety 
 
 9. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the highways 

improvements as detailed in the Highway Design Drawings dated 28.08.14 have 
been carried out and brought into use. 

  
 Reason:  In the interest of highway safety and to ensure compliance with policy 

SQ8 of the Tonbridge and Malling Managing Development and the Environment 
Development Plan Document 2010. 

 
10. Prior to works commencing on site, details of parking for site personnel as well 

as details of loading and turning areas for construction traffic shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter shall be 
provided and retained throughout the development. The approved parking, 
loading and turning areas shall be provided prior to the commencement of 
development. 

  

Page 34



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

 Reason: To ensure provision of adequate parking, loading and turning facilities 
for vehicles in the interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of local 
residents in accordance with policy. 

 
11. Prior to the development hereby approved commencing details of the slab levels 

of the proposed buildings and the finished levels of the site shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such details as are 
agreed shall be carried out concurrently with the development. 

  
 Reason: In order to secure a satisfactory standard of development and in 

accordance with paragraphs 17, 57, 58 and 61 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
12. No development, other than demolition of any building, removal of hardstanding, 

ground investigations or site survey works shall be commenced until: 
   
 (a) a site investigation has been undertaken to determine the nature and extent 

of any contamination, and 
  
 (b) the results of the investigation, together with an assessment by a competent 

person and details of a scheme to contain, treat or remove any contamination, as 
appropriate, have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The assessment and scheme shall have regard to the need to ensure 
that contaminants do not escape from the site to cause air and water pollution or 
pollution of adjoining land. 

  
 The scheme submitted pursuant to (b) shall include details of arrangements for 

responding to any discovery of unforeseen contamination during the undertaking 
of the development hereby permitted.  Such arrangements shall include a 
requirement to notify the Local Planning Authority of the presence of any such 
unforeseen contamination. 

  
 Prior to the first occupation of the development or any part of the development 

hereby permitted  
  
 (c) the approved remediation scheme shall be fully implemented insofar as it 

relates to that part of the development which is to be occupied, and 
  
 (d) a  Validation Report shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority by a 

competent person to confirm that the agreed remediation scheme has been 
completed and the site is suitable for the permitted end use. 

  
 Thereafter, no works shall take place within the site such as to prejudice the 

effectiveness of the approved scheme of remediation. 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of amenity and public safety. 
 
13. Prior to the commencement of development details of a scheme for the provision 

of affordable housing as part of the development shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The affordable housing shall 

Page 35



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

thereafter be provided in accordance with the approved scheme. The scheme 
shall include: 

  
 i. The numbers, type and location of the site of the affordable housing provision 

to be made: 
 ii. The timing of the construction of the affordable housing; 
 iii. The arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both initial 

and subsequent occupiers of the affordable housing; and 
 iv. The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of prospective 

and successive occupiers of the affordable housing, and the means by which 
such occupancy shall be enforced.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the housing herby permitted meets the broad aims of 

Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core strategy Policy CP17, Affordable Housing 
Supplementary Planning Document 2008 and paragraphs 50, 54 and 55 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 

 
14. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors 

in title, has secured the implementation of a watching brief to be undertaken by 
an archaeologist approved by the Local Planning Authority so that the excavation 
is observed and items of interest and finds are recorded. The watching brief shall 
be in accordance with a written programme and specification which has been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined 

and recorded. 
 
Informatives 
 
 1. Planning permission does not convey any approval for construction of the 

required vehicular crossing, or any other works within the highway for which a 
statutory licence must be obtained. Applicants should contact Kent County 
Council Highways and Transportation: 
www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transportation.aspx or telephone:03000 418181 in 
order to obtain the necessary application pack. 

 
 2. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 

approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents 
where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 
established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway 
Authority. The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved 
plans agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation and 
common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways 
and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement 
of development. 

 
 3. Prior to the demolition work commencing the dutyholder is required to undertake 

an asbestos demolition survey as required by the Control of Asbestos 
Regulations 2012. 

 

Page 36



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

 4. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council operates a two wheeled bin and green 
box refuse recycling collection service from the boundary of the property. 
Bins/boxes should be stored within the boundary of the property and placed at 
the boundary of the property at the nearest point to the public highway on the 
relevant collection day. 

 
 5. Collection of bins from individual property boundaries or specified bin storage 

areas can be achieved where vehicle access is permitted i.e. road constructed to 
highway standard to allow 32 tonne (GVW) refuse freighter and appropriate 
turning areas (vehicle 12m x 2.5m, with a 6m wheelbase and 4.5m height). 

 
 6. Although advice in accordance with the Local Plan states "no carry distance to 

exceed 25m from either the bin store or house to refuse vehicle", I wish to 
emphasise that 25m be used as the maximum and that consideration should 
always be given to a shorter distance that adheres to the above points. 

 
 7. The Council also operates a fortnightly recycling box/bin service. This would 

require an area approximately twice the size of a wheeled bin per property. 
 
 8. On the day of collection, the wheeled bin from each property should be placed on 

the shared entrance or boundary of the property at the nearest point to the 
adopted KCC Highway. 

 
 9. The Council reserves the right to designate the type of bin/container. The design 

of the development must have regard to the type of bin/container needed and the 
collection method. 

 
10. You are advised to contact the Council's Waste Services team directly to discuss 

matters of refuse vehicle access to the site 
 
11  The Borough Council will need to create new street name(s) for this development 

together with a new street numbering scheme.  To discuss the arrangements for 
the allocation of new street names and numbers you are asked to write to Street 
Naming & Numbering, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson Building, 
Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent, ME19 4LZ or to e-mail to 
addresses@tmbc.gov.uk.  To avoid difficulties, for first occupiers, you are 
advised to do this as soon as possible and, in any event, not less than one month 
before the new properties are ready for occupation 

 
Contact: Kathryn Holland 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 
   

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 

TM/13/03692/FL 
 
Ferns Surfacing Ltd, Larkfield Depot Bellingham Way Larkfield Aylesford Kent  
 
Erection 30 no. dwellings (50% affordable), new office headquarters building for Ferns 
Surfacing and Ferns Drylining (Kent), access road, car parking and landscaping at 
Bellingham Way, Aylesford, Kent (includes demolition of existing structures) 
 
For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2012. 
 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

 
Wouldham 571288 163930 4 August 2014 TM/14/02658/FL 
Burham Eccles 
Wouldham 
 
Proposal: Change of use from public house with ancillary residential 

accommodation to 2 x 3 bed dwellings and 1 x 3 bed dwelling 
with associated demolition  and extensions and internal and 
external alterations 

Location: Foresters Arms 74 High Street Wouldham Rochester Kent 
ME1 3UP  

Applicant: Mrs Ai Lian Wang 
 
 

1. Description: 

1.1 Planning permission is sought for the conversion of the existing public house into 3 

dwellings.  The scheme involves the rebuilding of the existing front porch along 

with alterations to the window arrangements within the front elevation, the 

demolition of the existing rear extensions and addition of replacement single 

storey rear extensions.   

1.2 The building would be divided into 2 no. 2 storey 3 bedroom units.  Access is 

proposed from the front elevation, with both units provided with rear gardens.  

Access to the proposed 3 bedroom flat, occupying the second floor, is proposed 

from the front elevation via a self-contained staircase.  The scheme does not 

involve any on-site vehicle parking.    

2. Reason for reporting to Committee: 

2.1 At the request of Councillor Dalton, due to the existing parking problems in 

Wouldham High Street.   

3. The Site: 

3.1 The site lies within the confines of Wouldham village, situated on the east side of 

Wouldham High Street.  The building is three storey, forming part of a terrace, with 

attached residential dwellings to either side.  The northern part of the building, 76 

High Street, is already a separate dwelling and does not form part of this 

application.   

3.2 The site comprises the building, which fronts the High Street, and a rear garden.  

The garden backs onto Wouldham Recreation Ground to the east.  The premises 

are in some disrepair. 

4. Planning History: 

   

TM/61/10517/OLD grant with conditions 6 December 1961 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

Alterations to form W.C.'s. 

   

TM/64/10723/OLD grant with conditions 16 January 1964 

An illuminated Cockerel Sign. 

   

TM/85/10618/FUL grant with conditions 19 March 1985 

Front porch and single storey rear extension to extend toilets and domestic 
lounge. 
   

TM/85/11377/FUL grant with conditions 27 June 1985 

Substitute door for window on rear elevation. 

   

TM/92/10573/OLD planning application not 
required 

30 July 1992 

Section 64 Determination: Internal alterations to provide restaurant, toilet facilities 
and staircase.  
 

5. Consultees: 

5.1 PC:  The PC object to the application in respect of the parking.  The PC has 

concerns about the associated vehicles that the new dwellings would bring to the 

village which already has parking difficulties.  Although a former public house, this 

was a pub that villagers would walk to and therefore the pub did not cause a 

parking problem in the village.   

5.2 KCC Highway:  Whilst the lack of off street parking is not ideal, the parking 

demand for the residential use of the site is likely to be less than that which could 

be generated by the previous use of the site.  In view of this I do not wish to raise 

objection.   

5.3 Private Reps: 7/2S/1X/2R + Site Notice.  

2 letters of support make the following comments: 

• The pub is in a state of disrepair, dilapidated and a blot on the landscape.  

Strongly support the application - the proposal looks promising and would 

restore the building to an ascetically acceptable state. 

• The village has parking problems but considering many of the customers 

would drive to the pub I don’t imagine the additional vehicles would exceed 

that of the original pub and therefore present an issue.   

1 letter of general support but commenting on sound insulation and party wall 
issues.   

Page 42



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

2 letters of objection make the following comments: 

• The new vehicles would add to the congestion on this crowded road which is 

also a bus route.  This will be made worse by the new bus routes associated 

with the Peters Pit development.  The application would lead to potentially 

another 7 vehicles struggling to park on the overcrowded High Street.   

• The proposed use will not create less cars that the previous use as people 

visiting the pub came and went home by taxi therefore not needing to park or 

lived within the village and walked to the pub.  The letting rooms were rarely 

used.   

• The new rear extensions would remove natural light from the neighbouring 

properties, no. 70 and 72. 

• Proper parking bays could be put in the road and the land to rear made into 

parking spaces for the residents of the High Street.    

• There would be nowhere for the skips to be left, this would make parking more 

difficult, and how long would construction take. 

6. Determining Issues: 

6.1 One of the core planning principles enshrined in paragraph 17 of the NPPF seeks 

to support the transition to a low carbon future.  This involves the reuse of existing 

resources and includes the conversion of existing buildings.  The application seeks 

to convert an existing disused building and therefore, in principle, accords with 

paragraph 17 the NPPF. The aim of paragraph 17 of the NPPF is echoed in Policy 

CP1 of the TMBCS.  Paragraph 6 promotes the redevelopment of previously 

developed land within those urban and rural settlements where a reasonable 

range of services is available.    

6.2 Paragraph 23 states that LPAs should recognise that residential development can 

play an important role in ensuring the vitality of centres and such development 

should be encouraged on appropriate sites. The NPPF also seeks to encourage 

delivery of a wide choice of high quality homes (section 6) and at paragraph 51 

states that LPAs should identify and bring back into use empty housing and 

buildings unless there are strong economic reasons for not doing so.   

6.3 The conversion of a public house to a residential use can potentially result in the 

loss of a community facility.  I am aware of paragraph 28 of the NPPF which seeks 

to retain local services and community facilities in villages and specifically refers to 

pubs.  In addition Policy CP26 of the TMBCS seeks to ensure that proposals 

which would result in the loss of premises last used for the provision of community 

services, or recreation, leisure or cultural facilities will only be permitted if 

alternative facilities are available.  The Foresters Arms has not been trading as a 

public house for a number of years.  Two other public houses are located within 

Page 43



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

Wouldham: The Waterman’s Arms and The Medway Inn.  I do not therefore 

consider the loss of this former public house to have an unacceptable impact on 

the social and economic health of the wider village. 

6.4 With these policies in mind, and given that the site lies within the rural settlement 

confines of Wouldham, I consider that there is no objection in principle to the 

proposed development.  

6.5 The application must also be determined with regard to Policy CP24 of the 

TMBCS which seeks to ensure that all development is well designed and respects 

the site and its surroundings.  This aim is echoed in paragraph 58 of the NPPF 

which seeks to ensure that development will function well, create attractive, safe 

places in which to live and work, optimise the potential of the site, respond to the 

local character of the surroundings and be visually attractive. 

6.6 The proposed external works to the front façade will improve the overall 

appearance of the building.  The additional first and second storey windows will 

add greater symmetry and the redevelopment of the building in general will 

improve the overall appearance of the High Street.  This is to be welcomed. 

6.7 The proposed external works to the rear façade comprise the demolition of the 

existing flat roof single storey rear extensions housing the former kitchen and 

lavatories.  The replacement rear extensions are also flat roof and single storey, to 

a height of 3m.  This will improve the visual appearance of the building.  It is noted 

that the works also involve small conservatories abutting both site boundaries: 

however the size and design of these structures will ensure no unacceptable 

impact on levels of adjacent residential amenity.  

6.8 It is also necessary to consider the application in the context of Policy SQ8 of the 

MDEDPD.  Section 2 of this policy permits development only where it would not 

significantly harm highway safety.    

6.9 It is acknowledged that many of the dwellings on the High Street do not benefit 

from off street parking.  It is also noted that the High Street forms part of a bus 

route which, on occasions, can lead to localised congestion.  The creation of three 

dwellings is likely to generate vehicle movement; however this must be balanced 

against the vehicle movements associated with the previous use of the site as a 

public house. KCC KHS acknowledges that the absence of off street parking is not 

ideal however raises no objection to the application as the parking demand for the 

residential use of the site is likely to be less than that which could be generated by 

the previous use of the site.  The parking requirement recommended by IGN3 for 

the proposal is 5 parking spaces whereas the parking requirement recommend by 

IGN4 for a public house is 1 space per 2 staff members and 1 space per 10 sqm.  

Calculated on the former public area of the public house alone this would equate 

to a minimum of 11 spaces  On this basis the application is unlikely to cause 

significant harm to highway safety and therefore accords with Policy SQ8. 

Page 44



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

6.10 One objector makes reference to a proposal to create vehicle parking to the rear of 

the High Street.  This relates to a scheme to change the use of part of the existing 

recreation ground to form a new vehicular access road to serve the rear of 

properties nos. 20 – 98 High Street.  Planning permission was originally granted in 

1985 and renewed in 1990, 2009 and 2012.  This does not form part of the current 

application and is for Members’ background information only.   

6.11 Representation has been received from the attached neighbour.  General support 

is offered for the proposal however issues relating to hours of construction, sound 

insulation and other party wall issues are raised.  The hours of construction are 

beyond the scope of the planning system: however a planning informative can be 

attached to remind the applicant of the desirability of good neighbourliness.  The 

levels of internal sound insulation fall within the Building Control regime.  The 

conversion will need to ensure suitable levels of noise/sound insulation between 

the units: both the horizontal and vertical relationships, and between the proposed 

and existing dwellings.  The applicant can also be reminded of the need to comply 

with the Party Wall Act by informative.   

6.12 The rear garden appears to have been used as a ‘pub garden’ for many years.  To 

ensure the site poses no risk from any unexpected pollutants, in accordance with 

paragraph 120 of the NPPF, a suitable planning condition is recommended to 

provide soils samples prior to development to identify any possible contaminants.     

6.13 In light of the above assessment, the application accords with the requirements of 

the NPPF, Policies CP1 and CP24 of the TMBCS and Policy SQ8 of the 

MDEDPD.  I therefore conclude that the proposal is acceptable subject to the 

imposition of the following planning conditions.  

7. Recommendation: 

7.1 Grant planning permission in accordance with the following submitted details:  

Design and Access Statement    dated 04.08.2014, Site Plan  419/PL/01  dated 
04.08.2014, Existing Floor Plans  419/PL/02  dated 04.08.2014, Proposed Floor 
Plans  419/PL/03  dated 04.08.2014, Existing Floor Plans  419/PL/04  dated 
04.08.2014, Proposed Floor Plans  419/PL/05  dated 04.08.2014, Existing Floor 
Plans  419/PL/06  dated 04.08.2014, Proposed Floor Plans  419/PL/07  dated 
04.08.2014, Existing Elevations  419/PL/08  dated 04.08.2014, Proposed 
Elevations  419/PL/09  dated 04.08.2014, Existing Elevations  419/PL/10  dated 
04.08.2014, Proposed Elevations  419/PL/11  dated 04.08.2014, Section  
419/PL/12  dated 04.08.2014, Proposed Elevations  419/PL/13  dated 04.08.2014 
subject to the following conditions: 

 
 
Conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

Page 45



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

  
 Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. No external alterations shall take place until details and samples of materials to 

be used externally have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority, and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 

  
 Reason:  To ensure that the development does not harm the character and 

appearance of the existing building or visual amenity of the locality, in 
accordance with Policy CP24 of the Tonbridge and Malling Borough Core 
Strategy 2007. 

 
 3. No ground works shall commence until 
 

(a) a soil chemical analysis is provided to verity soils in the residential garden 
area are suitable for the proposed end use. 
 

(b) should the results indicate an unacceptable level of contamination, a 
remediation strategy shall be submitted to and agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority and shall thereafter be implemented by the Developer. 

 
(c) a closure report shall be submitted by the Developer relating to (a) and (b) 

above and other relevant issues and responses such as any pollution incident 
during the development. 

  
 Reason: To prevent unacceptable risks from pollution in accordance with 

paragraph 120 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2012. 
 
 
Informatives 
 
 1. The applicant is reminded that the existing building may contain asbestos and 

therefore advice should be sought from the Health and Safety Executive 
regarding its safe removal.  Any asbestos found on site must be removed in a 
controlled manner by an appropriately qualified operator 

 
 2. Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council operate a two wheeled bin and green 

box recycling refuse collection service from the boundary of the property.  
Bins/boxes should be stored within the boundary of the property and placed at 
the nearest point to the public highway on the relevant collection day. 

 
 3. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby 

approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents 
where required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly 
established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway 
Authority.  The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the 
approved plans agree in every respect with those approved under such 
legislation and common law.  It is therefore important for the applicant to contact 

Page 46



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 
 

KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 
commencement on site. 

 
 4. In the interests of good neighbourliness the hours of construction, including 

deliveries, should be restricted to Monday to Friday 07.30 - 18.30 hours, 
Saturday 08.00 - 13.00 with no work undertaken on Sundays or Public/Bank 
Holidays. 

 
 5. The proposed development is within a road which has a formal street numbering 

scheme and it will be necessary for the Council to allocate postal address(es) to 
the new property/ies.  To discuss the arrangements, you are invited to write to 
Street Naming & Numbering, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Gibson 
Building, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill, West Malling, Kent, ME19 4LZ or to e-mail to 
addresses@tmbc.gov.uk.  To avoid difficulties for first occupiers, you are advised 
to do this as soon as possible and, in any event, not less than one month before 
the new properties are ready for occupation. 

 
 6. The disposal of waste by incineration is contrary to Waste Management 

Legislation and could lead to justified complaints from local residents. 
 
 

Contact: Maria Brown 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 3 Planning Committee  
 
 
   

Part 1 Public  9 October 2014 

TM/14/02658/FL 
 
Foresters Arms 74 High Street Wouldham Rochester Kent ME1 3UP 
 

Change of use from public house with ancillary residential accommodation to 2 x 3 bed 
dwellings and 1 x 3 bed dwelling with associated demolition  and extensions and 
internal and external alterations 
 
For reference purposes only.  No further copies may be made.  Crown copyright.  All rights reserved.  Tonbridge and Malling 
Borough Council Licence No. 100023300 2012. 
 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Development Control
	5 TM/14/01505/RM - Preston Hall, London Road, Aylesford
	Map

	6 TM/13/03692/FL - Ferns Surfacing Ltd, Larkfield Depot, Bellingham Way, Larkfield
	Map

	7 TM/14/02658/FL - Foresters Arms, 74 High Street, Wouldham
	Map


